RECEIVED

APR 27 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2012-CP-40-04652
S C Court of Appeals Case No. 2014-000663

James W. Trexler,

Appellant,

v.

The Humane Society for the
Prevention of Cruelty to
Animals, and Wayne
Brennessel, individually and
as Executive Director of the
Humane Society for the
Prevention of Cruelty to
Animals,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

William H. Johnson
Law Offices of William H. Johnson, LLC
411 North Brooks Street
Post Office Box 137
Manning, South Carolina 29102
(803) 435-0909 (telephone)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents on Appellant's malicious prosecution claim because Appellant presented evidence sufficient to create a question of fact as to whether probable cause existed for his arrest and the trial court's based its ruling on inaccurate or incomplete facts for which there is no evidentiary support in the record

2. The trial court erred in finding probable cause for Appellant's arrest existed as a matter of law based on facts unknown to Respondents until after the commencement of the present litigation, and which facts are flatly contradicted by the evidence presented by Appellant.

3. The trial court erred in finding as a matter of law that allegedly defamatory publications by Respondents were true or substantially true, providing Respondents with an absolute defense to Appellant's defamation claims.

4. The trial court erred in finding Appellant was a "public official" for purposes of defamation as a matter of law based solely on an appealed ruling in a separate case.

5. The trial court erred in finding Appellant was required to show Respondents acted with "actual malice" in publishing allegedly defamatory statements about him, and that Appellant failed to make such a showing.

6. The trial court erred in finding Appellant provided no evidence to support a finding Respondents' defamatory statement was made with knowledge of its falsity or reckless disregard for the truth.

7. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent Brennessel on Appellant's defamation claim based on its finding that Appellant alleged insufficient facts to support a claim that Respondent Brennessel's defamatory statement was made recklessly, willfully, or with gross negligence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a malicious prosecution that arises out of the Humane Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals' ("HSPCA") participation in the instigation and continuation of Appellant's 2008 arrest and subsequent prosecution over the course of two and a half years on misdemeanor followed by felony charges of ill treatment to animals. This case also involves defamation arising out of statements Wayne Brennessel, Executive Director of the Human Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals ("Brennessel") made to the media regarding the final disposition of the misdemeanor and felony charges of ill treatment of animals against Appellant.

Appellant alleges that the HSPCA partnered with the Richland County Sheriff's Department in the malicious instigation and continuation of legal process against him without probable cause, and with actual or constructive knowledge Appellant was not involved with the activity and ownership upon which the charges against him were brought. Appellant further alleges Respondents defamed him by reporting to the media he pleaded "no contest" to the charges despite having actual knowledge the charges against Appellant were dismissed, suggesting Appellant's guilt rather than announcing his innocence. Appellant alleges that as a direct result of malicious prosecution and defamation by the Respondents, he lost his job, salary, pension, retirement benefits, his ability to obtain like employment, and has suffered irreparable harm to his personal and professional reputation.

Appellant filed his Complaint on July 5, 2012. (See R. pp. 11-25). Respondents moved for summary judgment on July 18, 2013, and filed their Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on September 6, 2013 (See R. pp. 83-85; R. pp. 86-139). Also on September 6, 2013, Appellant filed his response Memorandum in Opposition to Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment, followed by a copy of the Memorandum in Opposition with one of the exhibits corrected, with leave of the trial court, on September 11, 2013. (See R. pp. 140-166; R. pp. 167-194).

On September 6, 2013, the Honorable Alison Renee Lee presided over the hearing on Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment (See R. pp. 46-82). On February 10, 2014, Judge Lee entered an Order (dated February 5, 2014) granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment. (See R. pp. 3-8). Appellant received written notice of the filing of the Order granting summary judgment on February 26, 2014. Appellant served his Notice of Appeal on March 28, 2014. On July 22, 2014 Appellant requested an extension of time to submit his initial brief and designation of matter to be included in the record on appeal, which the Court of Appeals granted by its August 1, 2014 Order (See Appellant's Motion for Extension of Time; Order Granting Extension).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court may independently review the record to determine if summary judgment was proper. If the Appellant, as the non-movant, carries the burden of proof by the preponderance of the evidence, he can defeat summary judgment by pointing to a mere scintilla of evidence in his favor. See Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801 (2008).

This is the same standard announced by the trial court in its February 5, 2014 Order: “[s]ummary judgment is appropriate if ‘there is no genuine issue as to any material fact.’ Rule 56(c), SCRPC. In determining whether a triable issue of material fact exists, the Court must construe all facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the non-movant. Wogan v. Kunze, 379 S.C. 581, 585, 666 S.E.2d 901, 903 (2008). ‘In order to withstand a motion for summary judgment in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the **non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence.**’ Turner v. Milliman, 392 S.C. 116, 122, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011) (emphasis added).”

ARGUMENT

1 The Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment in Favor of Respondents on Appellant’s Malicious Prosecution Claim Because Appellant Presented Evidence Sufficient to Create a Question of Fact as to Whether Probable Cause Existed For His Arrest and The Trial Court’s Based its Ruling on Inaccurate or Incomplete Facts For Which There is no Evidentiary Support in the Record

Respondents argue Appellant cannot establish each element required to maintain his claim for malicious prosecution because Respondents assert that probable cause for Appellant's arrest existed as a matter of law. (See R. p. 92) Appellant maintains Respondents instigated and continued criminal proceedings against him without probable cause, and that summary judgment is inappropriate because sufficient evidence exists to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact on that issue. (See R. pp. 173-178).

To maintain an action for malicious prosecution, a plaintiff must demonstrate 1) the institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings, either civil or criminal; 2) by, or at the instance of, the defendant; 3) termination of such proceeding in plaintiff’s favor; 4) malice in instituting such proceeding; 5) want of probable cause, and 6) resulting injury or damage. Parrott v. Plowden Motor Company, 246 S.C. 318, 321, 143S.E.2d 607, 608

(1965) (referencing 34 Am.Jur., Malicious Prosecution, Sec. 6, p. 706; Prosser v. Parsons, 141 S.E.2d 342 (1965); Gibson v. Brown, et al., 141 S.E.2d 653 (1965)).

“Probable cause is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief rests on such grounds as would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious [person], under the circumstances, to believe likewise.” Jones v. City of Columbia, 301 S.C. 62, 65, 389 S.E.2d 662, 663 (1990). In an action for malicious prosecution, a plaintiff must demonstrate the prosecution was instituted maliciously, and without probable cause. Id.; accord Margolis v. Telech, 239 S.C. 232, 122 S.E.2d 417 (1961) However, malice may be inferred from a want of probable cause. Brown v. Bailey, 215 S.C. 175, 184, 54 S.E.2d 769,773 (1949). As the court in Baker v. Hornick, 57 S.C. 213, 35 S.E. 524, 529 (1900) intuitively recognized, “where a person instituted a prosecution against another without probable cause, it is difficult to conceive of any other motive but a malicious one for bringing the prosecution.”

Malice also may proceed from an ill-regulated mind which is not sufficiently cautious before causing injury to another person. Moreover, malice may be implied where the evidence reveals a disregard of the consequences of an injurious act, without reference to any special injury that may be inflicted on another person. Law v S.C. Dep't of Corrections, 368 S.C. 424, 437, 629 S.E.2d 642, 649 (2006) (citing Margolis, 239 S.C. 232, 238, 122 S.E.2d 417, 420 (1961)).

Importantly, “[p]robable cause is determined as of the time of the arrest, based on facts and circumstances—objectively measured—known to the arresting officer” Jackson v. City of Abbeville, 623 S.E.2d 656, 659, 366 S.C. 662, 667 (S.C.App. 2005), and “[o]nly those facts and circumstances which were or should have been known to the prosecutor at

the time he instituted the prosecution should be considered.” Parrott, 246 S.C. 318 at 322, 609 (citing Bailey supra at 175,773). A court may decide probable cause exists as a matter of law **only** when the evidence yields but one conclusion. Parrott supra at 323, 609. To that effect, the Hornick court recognized that “[n]o man should with impunity set the criminal law in motion against another, and deprive him of his liberty, even for a brief period, upon slight suspicion or mere conjecture that he has committed the offense charged.” See Hornick, 57 S.C. 213, 35 S.E. 524, 526. “Nor is it sufficient that the prosecutor should believe in the guilt of the accused. **Mere belief is not sufficient to justify a criminal prosecution**, because there must be reasonable or probable grounds for that belief.” Id. (emphasis supplied).

Here, Respondents argue probable cause existed as a matter of law because the Grand Jury “true billed” the indictments against Plaintiff, creating “prima facie” evidence of probable cause¹ and that Appellant has not refuted the presumption. (See R. p. 93). Appellant argues “true billed” indictments only create a rebuttable presumption of probable cause, and the rule set down in Law is that probable cause exists as a matter of law only where 1) the indictments against plaintiff are true billed by the Grand Jury **and** 2) where the underlying facts support probable cause to instigate or pursue criminal charges. (See R. p. 175).

In fact, the Law court found the facts and circumstances underlying the instigation of proceedings against the appellant supported the presumption of probable cause created by true-billed indictments because the proceedings against appellant were subsequent to,

¹ For this proposition, Respondents rely on Law v. S. Carolina Dept. of Corrections, 365 S.C. 424, 629 S.E.2d 642 (2006).

and the result of, a thorough investigation, included the interviews of over forty witnesses, and was based on actual knowledge of historical conspiracy Law at 437, 647.

Here, Appellant submitted evidence to show the HSPCA not only instigated proceedings against Appellant based on unreliable information from other individuals, without performing any independent investigation whatsoever, but it also obtained Appellant's arrest warrant by swearing as true in an affidavit to a Magistrate facts the HSPCA did not know to be true. Elizabeth Perry, Cruelty Investigator for the HSPCA, swore to the Magistrate that probable cause existed for Appellant's arrest because Appellant was the owner of the five subject horses, which was not true. Appellant submitted evidence to show Elizabeth Perry, in fact, did not know, as she swore she did, that Appellant owned any of the horses he was accused of mistreating, nor did she have any reason to believe that he owned any of the horses when she swore that fact to the Magistrate in order to obtain the arrest warrant

As evidence of the foregoing, Appellant submitted deposition testimony of Elizabeth Perry taken on January 17, 2012, in which counsel for Appellant asked Ms. Perry if she did any investigation into whether Appellant owned the horses before making the affidavit for his arrest warrant. Ms. Perry responded "they [horses] were on his property so -- I mean --" (R. p. 184, l. 3). When counsel for Appellant asked Ms. Perry if she represented to the Magistrate that Appellant was the owner of the horses based solely on the fact he allegedly owned the property, Ms. Perry indicated that was not the only reason why, but she could not recall any other reasons. (R. p. 184, ll. 4-13). In a separate case against the Richland County Sheriff's Department ("RCSD") for malicious prosecution based on the same operative facts (case number 2010-CP-40-1343), counsel for Appellant

took the deposition of RCSD Investigator Holly Wagner who worked hand in hand with Elizabeth Perry and the HSPCA in the investigation and prosecution of Appellant. Counsel for Appellant asked Investigator Wagner whether to her knowledge the HSPCA did any investigation into whether Appellant owned any horses before swearing an affidavit to obtain his arrest warrant. Investigator Wagner indicated to her knowledge, she did not know of any investigation that was done by the HSPCA into whether Appellant owned the horses he was accused of abusing. (R. p. 186, ll. 5-16). Investigator Wagner also indicated that Elizabeth Perry never communicated to her she had evidence Appellant owned the subject horses prior to attesting that probable cause existed to arrest him on that basis. (R. p. 188, ll. 11-15).

When Counsel for Appellant asked Ms. Perry if she did any investigation into whether Appellant owned the property on which the subject horses were found and seized, Ms. Perry indicated that the HSPCA did not have the ability to do that kind of search. (R. p. 190, ll. 17-20). Ms. Perry also admitted she did no search of the ownership records of the subject horses to determine who owned them. (R. p. 190, ll. 22-23).

More troubling still is the evidence Appellant submitted that Elizabeth Perry lied about facts in her affidavit to obtain Appellant's arrest warrant. Ms. Perry's affidavit states that probable cause for Appellant's arrest existed because upon the HSPCA's search of the property purportedly belonging to Appellant, no food or hay whatsoever was found on the property. (R. p. 103). However, she stated just the opposite in her January 17, 2012 deposition. When counsel for Appellant inquired as to whether during the search of the property purportedly belonging to Appellant she looked inside the garage, Ms. Perry stated she did. When counsel for Appellant asked what she saw when she looked in the garage,

Ms. Perry admitted she saw horse food. (R. p. 166, ll. 7-14).

RCSD Investigator Wagner admitted in her deposition that in her opinion it would be improper for an affiant, in order to obtain an arrest warrant, to swear to a judge as true facts he or she knew were false. (R. p. 164, ll. 11-14). Nevertheless, Appellant has submitted evidence that the HSPCA did just that.

In granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents on the malicious prosecution claim, the trial court found probable cause existed as a matter of law based on evidence that two years prior to the incident, Appellant owned the property where the five subject horses were later stabled, a fact, the court reasoned, that would excite the belief in a reasonable mind acting on the facts within their knowledge that [Appellant] was the owner of the horses. (R. p. 7).

The trial court's Order states that Respondents contend the statements in the arrest warrant affidavit were supported by property ownership records indicating [Appellant] owned the 412 Derby Lane property where the horses were found, and therefore, the inference can be made that Plaintiff owned the horses." (R. p. 6). The trial court also states on its own that "[a]lthough [Appellant] contends he had transferred ownership interest [in the property] to his mother and his brother two years prior, he was still paying for the utilities and taxes at the time of the underlying events." (R. p. 6).

First, that the HSPCA's affidavit was supported by property ownership records is flatly contradicted by evidence to the contrary submitted by Appellant. (R. p. 190, ll. 17-20). Furthermore, on summary judgment, the "court must construe all facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the non-movant." Wogan v. Kunze, 379 S.C. 581, 585, 666 S.E 2d 901, 903 (2008) Here the trial court appears to construe the inferences in favor of

Respondents, in error. Second, Respondents only became aware during the course of the present litigation, and not before, that Appellant had still been paying taxes and utility bills for the property at the time of the underlying events. No evidence of record supports that finding of fact by the trial court, and it is flatly contradicted by evidence Appellant has submitted. (R. p. 190, ll. 17-20). Of course, “[o]nly those facts and circumstances which were or should have been known to the prosecutor at the time he instituted the prosecution should be considered.” Parrott, 246 S.C. 318 at 322, 609 (citing Bailey supra at 175,773). Nevertheless, an abuse of discretion occurs when, like here, a ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. See Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 25, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005).

Next, the trial court states as fact that “[i]n the affidavits Elizabeth Perry submitted to obtain arrest warrants for [Appellant], the basis of the arrest warrants was that Plaintiff owned the five horses on the 412 Derby Lane property.” (R. p. 6). However, that is only partially correct, as the basis of the arrest warrants also included Elizabeth Perry’s sworn attestation that no food was found on the property. (R. p. 103).

To the extent the trial court based its grant of summary judgment on the inaccurate or incomplete facts it states in its Order, despite their nonconformity with the evidence of records, its ruling was in error. See Fields, 363 S.C. 19, 25, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005).

To withstand a motion for summary judgment in cases like this one that apply the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence. Turner v. Milliman, 392 S.C. 116, 122, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011). In opposition to Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment as to the malicious prosecution claim, Appellant submitted not merely a scintilla, but ample

evidence to create a question of fact as to whether probable cause was supported by the underlying facts and circumstances. The question of whether probable cause exists is ordinarily a jury question, although it may be decided as a matter of law when the evidence **yields but one conclusion.** Parrott, 246 S.C. at 323, 143 S.E.2d at 609 (emphasis added). Because the evidence submitted by the Appellant clearly demonstrates more than one conclusion, particularly taking the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to Appellant, a genuine question of material fact exists as to the existence of probable cause, and the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents on that issue.

2 The Trial Court Erred in Finding The Allegedly Defamatory Publication by Respondents Was True or Substantially True Entitling Respondents to a Judgment as a Matter of Law on Appellant's Defamation Claim Based on Ross

To establish a claim for defamation Plaintiff must prove “1) a false and defamatory claim was made, 2) the unprivileged statement was published to a third party, 3) the publisher was at fault; and 4) either the statement was actionable regardless of harm or the publication of the statement caused special harm.” Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, LLC, 368 S.C. 444, 465, 629 S.E.2d 653, 664 (2006). “A communication is defamatory if it tends to harm the reputation of another as to lower him in the estimation of the community or deter third persons from associating or dealing with him.” Holtzscheiter v. Thompson Newspapers, Inc., 332 S.C. 502, 510, 506 S.E.2d 497, 502 (1998) (Holtzscheiter II) (quoting Lesesne v. Willingham, 83 F. Supp. 918, 921 (E.D.S.C 1949)).

“[T]o prevail in a defamation action, a plaintiff must establish that the defendant's statement referred to some ascertainable person, and that the plaintiff was the person to

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