ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 07 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Allison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-40-4652  
S.C. Appellate Tracking No. 2014-000663

James W. Trexler.....Appellant,

v.

The Humane Society for the Prevention of Cruelty  
To Animals, and Wayne Brennessel, individually and  
As Executive Director of the Humane Society for the  
Prevention of Cruelty to Animals.....Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

**Roopal S. Ruparelia**

William O. Sweeny, III  
John E. Tyler  
Sweeny, Wingate and Barrow, P.A.  
1515 Lady Street  
Post Office Box 12129

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO THE MALICIOUS PROSECUTION CAUSE OF ACTION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.**

**A. The Trial Court did not Err in holding that Appellant Trexler Failed to Establish that Respondents lacked Probable Cause to initiate the investigation of the Ill Treatment of Horses which led to Appellant's Arrest.**

South Carolina cases have addressed the role of probable cause in cases for malicious prosecution as follows:

While actions for malicious prosecution may be maintained in the courts, they have never been regarded with favor and are not encouraged as it is in the interest of good order that criminals be brought to justice; and it is generally held that the prosecutor is free from damage if there be probable cause of the accusation, the burden being upon the plaintiff to show the absence of probable cause as a part of the cause of action. Fulmer v. Harmon, 3 Stro. 576; Hogg v. Pinckney, 16 S.C. 387.

Prosser v. Parsons, 245 S.C. 493, 502, 141 S.E. 2d 342, 347 (1965) (Emphasis added) (additional citation omitted).

[T]he elements of malicious prosecution are (1) the institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings; (2) by or at the instance of the defendant; (3) termination of such proceedings in plaintiff's favor; (4) malice in institution such proceedings; (5) lack of probable cause; and (6) resulting injury or damage. Law [v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections], 368 S.C. 424, 435, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006)...

Probable cause means "the extent of such facts and circumstances as would excite the belief in a reasonable mind acting on the facts within the knowledge of the prosecutor that the person charged was guilty of a crime for which he has been charged, and only those facts and circumstances which were or should have been known to the prosecutor at the time he instituted the prosecution should be considered." In determining the existence of probable cause, the facts must be "regarded from the point of view of the party prosecuting; the question is not what the actual facts were, but what he honestly believed them to be." *South Carolina has long embraced the rule that a true bill of indictment is prima facie evidence of probable cause in an action for malicious prosecution.* Although the question of whether probable cause exists is ordinarily a jury question, it may be decided as a matter of law when the evidence yields but one conclusion. Id. at 436, 629 S.E.2d at 649 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

McBride v. School District of Greenville County, 389 S.C. 546, 566-67, 698 S.E.2d 845, 855-56 (Ct. App. 2010).

In McBride, the plaintiff was indicted for a felony by the grand jury, and that indictment “is prima facie evidence of probable cause as to that charge.” Id. at 567, 698 S.E.2d at 856.

The same thing is true in this case. The grand jury returned, on March 12, 2008, indictments as to five charges of Ill Treatment of Animals against James W. Trexler. R. 103-115. These multiple indictments of Mr. Trexler are substantial evidence of probable cause as to his felony violation of S.C. CODE ANN. §47-1-40. Appellant has the burden of proving the *lack* of probable cause and has failed to do so. Any supposed technical errors in the affidavits presented to the magistrate do not trump the evidence presented to the grand jury, which must remain secret.

Regarding the alleged errors, James Trexler gave every indication that he lived, and kept horses at, 412 Derby Lane in Hopkins, S.C. Mr. Trexler was certainly at 412 Derby Lane – with horses present – a sufficient amount of time for neighbors and others to consider that he resided there and was involved with horses, both individually and through his mother and brother. His testimony relevant to his current claims regarding 412 Derby Lane and horses there is as follows:

- He lived at that residence. R. 6, 13, 94.
- He left the house and moved back into the house March 2008. He was not living in the house in January and February, 2008. R. 94.
- Throughout, James Trexler continued to pay the utility and tax bills. Circuit Court Order p. 3; R. 6.
- His mother placed four horses in stalls at 412 Derby Lane. R. 12.
- While he claims he was absent from the house at 412 Derby Lane, he took his son back there every other weekend. R. 94.

- He transferred the property to an LLC in which his mother had interests. R. 94.
- The LLC to which he transferred his interest in the house was a horse-related entity, Carolina Arabian Show Horses, LLC. R. 12, 94.
- His mother, Hazelene, was the owner of Carolina Arabian Show Horses, LLC. R. 12.
- On February 13, 2008, HSPCA agent Michele Hart was accosted by Hazelene and Terry Trexler as she tried to photograph Trexler horses and her vehicle was blocked in by Terry Trexler, who was driving James Trexler's truck. R. 94, 118. The presence of James Trexler's truck at the Ziegler Road horse operation linked James Trexler with his mother and brother in that horse-related operation.
- After the 2/13 incident between the Trexlers and Ms. Hart, the Richland County Sheriff's Office partnered with the HSPCA to investigate the treatment of horses reported to be malnourished. R. 14.
- On February 25, 2008, all 23 of the horses at the Trexler's property on Zeigler Road in Eastover, S.C. were confiscated by the Richland County Sheriff's Department. R. 15.
- While the action of February 25 was ongoing on the Zeigler Road property, the HSPCA received a report from an informant, whose name has not been revealed, that other malnourished horses were seen at the 412 Derby Road property. R. 16.

Thereafter, the RCSD and HSPCA obtained a search warrant and searched the premises at 412 Derby Road where five more malnourished horses were found and James Trexler, Hazelene Trexler, and Terry Trexler were arrested by the RCSD.

The sequence of events related above makes plain that the RCSD, based on information it and HSPCA had accumulated, had probable cause to investigate conditions at 412 Derby Road and, based on what was found, to arrest James Trexler. Appellant Trexler was there with sufficient frequency to be known as a possessor of the property – and as a custodian of the animals. He knew that horses were being kept on the property over which he exercised control. He had an obligation under S.C. CODE ANN. § 47-1-

40 to ensure that the animals of which he was aware were adequately cared for, and RCSD and HSPCA had probable cause to investigate whether Trexler was fulfilling that statutory duty. Furthermore, the records that the HSCPA obtained from the Arabian Horse Association prior to the issuance of the True Bills of Indictment indicate James Trexler's ownership of multiple horses. Supp. R. 19-20.

Therefore, both because the grand jury's returning of true bills as to all five of the charges of ill-treatment of animals is *prima facie* evidence of probable cause and because the events related in the record reflect actual probable cause, the Court should affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment as to the Appellant's malicious prosecution claim. James Trexler has certainly *not* met his burden of showing the absence of probable cause.

**B. Appellant has Failed to Establish a Second Element of his Claim of Malicious Prosecution: that the Proceedings were Terminated in His Favor.**

Appellant Trexler has asserted that the proceedings against him were resolved in his favor because the claims against him were dismissed. R. 19. That, however, does not end the inquiry, as that dismissal was part of a plea agreement with the Attorney General's Office. R. 5. The agreement was that Terry Trexler would plead no contest to animal cruelty; the charges against James Trexler and his mother would not be prosecuted; and the Trexlers' ownership rights to the horses would all be transferred to HSPCA.

The transfer of ownership of the horses fully accomplished the purposes of the HSPCA, *id.*, and Richland County Sheriff's Department. S.C. CODE ANN. § 47-1-150, in the chapter regarding cruelty to animals, states that, "[t]he purpose of this section is to provide a means by which a neglected or mistreated animal can be: (1) removed from its

present custody.” S.C. CODE ANN. § 47-1-150(b)(1). That is exactly what happened, so HSPCA fully achieved its objective and Appellant and his mother and brother have lost possession of the horses. To the extent that Appellant asserts that he owned no horses, that is contrary to evidence of record, which is that a Connie Dickman from Indiana made a claim that she had sold James Trexler a horse two to three years previously, with an agreed price of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00). She provided a copy of the contract and stated that she had been paid only \$5,000 by James Trexler. R. 120; Supp. R. 4-9.

In any event, the result of the General Sessions proceedings was more favorable to HSPCA than to Appellant. This provides an additional sustaining ground to affirm the trial court’s grant of summary judgment as to the malicious prosecution claim.

**C. Appellant has Failed Adequately to Establish a Third Essential Element of his Malicious Prosecution Claim: that Malice Motivated the Institution of the Proceedings.**

Appellant has failed to establish that either of the Respondents were motivated by malice in investigating the conditions of horses kept at 412 Derby Lane in Hopkins.

Appellant Trexler has provided no evidence that anyone at HSPCA was motivated by malice in starting the investigation of horse mistreatment that resulted in his indictment.

Mr. Trexler’s claim for malicious prosecution; therefore, fails adequately to establish three of its essential elements: lack of probable cause; termination of the proceedings in Appellant’s favor; and malice in the institution of proceedings. The failure of any *one* of these elements dooms that claim. Paine Gayle Properties, LLC v. CSX Transp., Inc., 400 S.C. 568, 575, 735 S.E.2d 528, 532 (Ct. App. 2012) (affirming circuit

court's holding that, "due to Landowner's failure to establish at least one essential element of each of its causes of action, [Defendant] was entitled to judgment as a matter of law"). The circuit court should similarly be affirmed in this case regarding the malicious prosecution cause of action.

## **II. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO DEFAMATION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.**

The essential elements of a defamation claim are as follows:

To prove defamation, a plaintiff must show "(1) a false and defamatory statement was made; (2) the unprivileged publication was made to a third party; (3) the publisher was at fault; and (4) either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication." *Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 464, 629 S.E.2d 653, 664 (2006).

*Banks v. St. Matthew Baptist Church*, 406 S.C. 156, 161, 750 S.E.2d 605, 607 (2013)

"[A] sufficient defense is made out where the evidence establishes that the statement was substantially true. *Dauterman v. State-Record Co.*, 249 S.C. 512, 154, S.E.2d 919 (1967)."

*Ross v. Columbia Newspapers, Inc.*, 266 S.C. 75, 80, 221 S.E.2d 770, 772 (1976)

### **A. This Court should Affirm the Circuit Court's grant of Summary Judgment as to the Appellant's Defamation claim because the allegedly defamatory words were substantially true.**

The words that Appellant Trexler alleges to have been defamatory are contained in an internet post written by Sydney Cummins entitled "Neglected Horses Still Up for Adoption." R. 116.

The obvious intention and purpose of the article is to encourage people to adopt the horses that had previously been neglected on "properties owned by the Trexler family." R. 116. The article is based on the reporter's discussion with Wayne

Brennessel, the director of the HSPCA, and includes some words quoted by him, none of which offer even a hint of malice.

The words alleged to be defamatory by Appellant James Trexler, however, are *not* quoted from Mr. Brennessel, but are apparently a paraphrase of what he might have said. The alleged defamation is ostensibly conveyed in the words, “the Trexlers pleaded no contest.” R. 116.

The trial court was correct in granting summary judgment as to the defamation claim on the ground the offending words were substantially true. R. 7. The Trexlers were collectively involved in a plea negotiation regarding the criminal charges for the ill treatment of animals brought against all three of them.

The plea agreement was an oral agreement between the Trexler family and the attorney general’s office. As a quid pro quo for Terry Trexler pleading no contest to charges against him and the Trexler family relinquishing custody of all the horses that had been confiscated, the prosecuting Attorney General agreed not to prosecute the indictments against Mrs. Trexler and her son James. The plea of “no contest” by a member of the Trexler family appears to have been an essential element of the overall plea agreement between the *family* and the Attorney General’s office.

It is unequivocal that Brennessel did *not* say “James Trexler pleaded no contest.” If he said, “the Trexlers pleaded no contest” – which is *not* admitted by Mr. Brennessel – it would be the likely understanding of a non-attorney sitting in an unfamiliar courtroom in which the adversaries appeared to be the Trexler family versus The Attorney General

and HSPCA.<sup>2</sup> Given the circumstances, the statement that “the Trexlers pleaded no contest” is substantially true. *All of them* were released from further prosecution by that action and their surrender of the family horses. The Circuit Court correctly held that the statement in question was substantially true. R. 7.

**B. The Circuit Court’s Awarding Summary Judgment to the Respondents on the Defamation Claim Should be Affirmed also because there is no Evidence that Mr. Brennessel was at fault.**

The words alleged to be defamatory are not, as pointed out above, enclosed in quotation marks. The author of the article thereby indicates the disputed words are not the specific words of Mr. Brennessel. The author does, however, include several direct quotations from Mr. Brennessel, but the words, “the Trexlers pleaded no contest,” are not among them. The allegedly offending words, therefore, are the words of the author, not of Brennessel. If they are not the words of Brennessel, neither he nor the HSPCA are at fault for their publication. If Appellant cannot show fault on the part of Respondents he has failed adequately to establish an essential element of his cause of action, rendering correct and appropriate the Circuit Court’s grant of summary judgment as to defamation.

Appellant Trexler has provided no evidence of what Brennessel’s exact words were. Appellant’s claim is essentially a claim for defamation based on speculation as to what Mr. Brennessel actually said. Appellant’s speculation falls even further short of the clear and convincing standard for the of evidence that a “public figure” – as Mr. Trexler has judicially been deemed to be – must provide to establish the falsity of a statement made about him. R. 7, citing the Order Granting Summary Judgment in C.A. No. 2010-

---

<sup>2</sup> Our Supreme Court has held, as recited by the Circuit Court, that, “requiring a strict adherence to legal terminology is unreasonable.” R. 7, citing Ross v. Columbia Newspapers, Inc. 266 S.C. 75, 80, 221 S.E.2d 770, 773 (1976)

CP-40-1249, James W. Trexler v. The Associated Press, Barrington Broadcasting S.C Corp., Raycon TV Broadcasting, Inc., The Spartanburg Herald Journal, Inc., and the Pacific & Southern Co., Inc.

If summary judgment for the actual publisher of the allegedly defamatory words was appropriate, as it was, certainly summary judgment for someone for whom there is no evidence of publication of the alleged offending words, is even more appropriate. The Circuit Court's ruling to that effect should be affirmed.

Appellant has, in fact, failed to establish adequately two essential elements of a claim for defamation—that it was false (because it was substantially true) and that the publisher was at fault. Our law mandates that summary judgment be granted to a defendant in such a situation. The trial court should be affirmed on this issue.

### **III. S.C. CODE ANN. § 33-56-180 SHIELDS MR. BRENNESSEL FROM JUDGMENT**

S.C. CODE ANN. § 33-56-180 provides, in pertinent part as follows:

#### **33-56-180. Limitation of liability for injury or death caused by employee of charitable organization.**

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